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THE VICKSBURG VICTORY

MILITARY CONSTRUCTION

IN THE VICKSBURG DISTRICT,

U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS,

DURING WORLD WAR II
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DEDICATION

This work is dedicated first to the memory of Samuel D. Sturgis, William A. Harrison, George A. Morris, Russell G. Baker, and the other Vicksburg District leaders who established a legacy of devotion to their tasks, exceptional ability, and unsurpassed hard work in their wartime endeavors.  It is more so dedicated to the unnamed thousands of men and women who pored over the blueprints, drove the machines, hammered the nails, dug the ditches, typed the correspondence, and performed a thousand other thankless tasks in contributing their skills and efforts toward the defeat of Nazi Germany, Fascist Italy, and Imperial Japan.
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INTRODUCTION

The Vicksburg District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, was established in 1884.  It included the vital stretch of the Mississippi River from just below Memphis, Tennessee, south to the mouth of the Red River, about 150 river miles above New Orleans.  Extending east into the state of Mississippi and west into Louisiana and southeastern Arkansas, it further encompassed the basins of various tributaries of the Mississippi, such as the Yazoo, Big Black, Ouachita, and Red rivers.

Prior to the outbreak of World War II, the district concentrated its efforts almost entirely on attempts to control flooding and improve navigation of the Mississippi River and its tributaries.  Levee building, revetment, snagging and dredging operations, and cutoff construction had by 1937 brought a degree of control to the "Big River," as the great flood of that year was held in check.

In addition, in the late 1930s, the district was involved in the design and construction of the massive flood control reservoir at Sardis, Mississippi, in the upper Yazoo Basin.

The district's functions were expanded dramatically by war.  Armed conflict in Europe began with the German invasion of Poland in September 1939.  Nazi triumphs there and in France the following spring caused the United States to begin the first peacetime military mobilization in its history, though on a modest scale.  Efforts soon took on a sense of urgency.  In 1941, further German advances, coupled with increased Japanese belligerence in the Pacific, led to the institution of the first American peacetime draft.  Plans called for expanding Army ground forces from 400,000 to 4,000,000.

It quickly became apparent that the most important factor in mobilization was military construction.  Practically from bare ground--or worse--army camps, air bases, ordnance plants, hospitals, and other facilities had to be built to house, train, and supply the new mass army.  Since World War I, construction had been a function of the Construction Division of the U.S. Army Quartermaster Corps.  By late 1940, however, the Quartermasters were overwhelmed by the new construction tasks.  Consequently, the Army shifted part of the burden of military construction to the Corps of Engineers.  In December 1941, shortly after the Japanese bombing of Pearl Harbor and American entry into the global struggle, the Army assigned all military construction in the United States to the Corps.  This major redistribution of power and responsibility involved the Corps during the next four years in a building program that embraced more than 27,000 projects, large and small, costing over $15.3 billion.

The Vicksburg District played a diverse and vital role in the Corps construction program.  Ably led by District Engineer Samuel D. Sturgis, the organization shifted its focus from civil activities to military construction without serious interruption. Major projects included air bases, auxiliary fields, infantry training camps, enemy internment camps, Japanese-American relocation centers, major ordnance plants, and hospitals.  In addition to "normal" construction dilemmas--lack of adequate building specifications, personnel and material shortages, and demanding timetables--Sturgis dealt endlessly with political interference, institutional and personal conflicts, and contracting and public relations nightmares.

Sturgis hardly acted alone.  At his disposal was a district organization experienced in civil construction activities and with a capable cadre of administrators and engineers.  William Harrison, Russell C. Baker, George Morris, Raymond Sauer, William L. Lipscomb, Kenneth McLaughlin, and scores of other dedicated employees suspended peacetime rules, sticking to their jobs through long days and sleepless nights.  Regardless of hardship, they endured until their tasks were completed.

After a frenzied year, by the end of 1942, the district had completed most of its construction objectives.  The Army then transferred administration of its remaining construction activities to the Corps Mobile and Little Rock Districts, while the Vicksburg District returned to its traditional peacetime functions.  Sturgis and other Vicksburg personnel, transferred to overseas duties, went on to serve with distinction in both the Pacific and European theaters.  Behind them, in the Vicksburg District, they left an unsurpassed legacy of commitment and efficiency.  This was the Vicksburg Victory.

PART I


THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS


IN WORLD WAR II:


THE SHIFT TO MILITARY CONSTRUCTION

In late January 1945, the 10th Fighter Squadron, U.S. Army Air Force, took off from its prefabricated base near Reims, France.  Rising through the morning fog, the P-51s burst into the winter sunlight as they neared the Belgian border.  To their left, already in formation, flew the lumbering B-17s of the 95th Bombardment Group, up from their base at Horham, England.  Together they would penetrate deep into the heart of Nazi Germany within the hour.  Passing over Belgium at 25,000 ft., approaching the vital Saar Valley, the American pilots caught glimpses of motion on the ground where the 94th Infantry Division, recovered now from its pounding in the Battle of the Bulge, prepared for the breakthrough to the Rhine--Germany's last line of defense in the West.

Simultaneously, half a world away, the B-25s of the 69th Bombardment Squadron lifted off from their base on Luzon to hammer Japanese positions in preparation for General Douglas MacArthur's liberation of the Philippines.  Separated by thousands of miles, engaged in seemingly disjointed actions in the global war, there was a common tie:  each unit had received at least part of its training at facilities constructed by the Vicksburg District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.

The Corps of Engineers Before World War II
The Corps of Engineers today is best known for its role in civil works projects, particularly those dealing with flood control or navigation.  The Corps was, however, literally born in battle on July 16, 1775, at Bunker Hill, when George Washington appointed Boston native Richard Gridley as the first Chief Engineer.  After playing important military roles in the American Revolution and the War of 1812, Army engineers saw their functions expand to include constructing coastal fortifications, building coastal forts in the new western territories, and to new non-military roles such as the survey and exploration of the Louisiana Territory.  In 1824 the Corps of Engineers took on its first major civil works project‑‑​clearing the channels of the Ohio and Mississippi rivers of snags.

The Mexican War, 1846-48, saw the Corps make the rapid transition from essentially civil to military operations without a break in continuity, starting a Corps tradition repeated on several later occasions.  Mexican War Army engineers included Robert E. Lee, George B. McClellan, George B. Meade, P. G. T. Beauregard, and John C. Fremont, all of whom met on less friendly terms in the impending civil war.

The Civil War, in fact, demonstrated more than any previous conflict the value of military engineering.  Engineer units particularly pioneered revolutionary new techniques in road, bridge, and railroad construction.  Already it was apparent that the experiences of Corps engineers in civil projects and fortification construction during peacetime were essential in preparing for war.

In the aftermath of the Civil War, peacetime functions of Army engineers expanded further.  Internal waterway and coastal harbor improvement efforts increased, and the Corps supervised a massive "facelift" of Washington, D.C., including completion of the Washington Monument and construction of the Library of Congress.  After the brief interruption of the Spanish-American War in 1898, Corps officers designed and executed to completion the most remarkable engineering achievement in American history to that date, the Panama Canal.

At the entry of the United States in World War I in 1917, the Corps again shifted from civil to primarily military functions, with 296,000 Americans serving in Engineer units.  In fact, the first U.S. casualties of that conflict were sappers of the 11th Engineer Regiment in France.

The peaceful decades of the 1920s and 1930s saw the Corps return to civil projects, though on a much increased basis.  In 1927, Congress authorized the Corps to survey all the country's navigable waterways in order to formulate comprehensive plans for the improvement of navigation, water power, flood control, and irrigation.  The passage of the monumental 1936 Flood Control Act made the Corps responsible for all flood control throughout the United States.

Thus, at the outbreak of World War II in Europe in 1939, the Corps of Engineers had an established history of wartime service in field engineer units and of peacetime service in vital civil works and fortifications projects.  The global war would soon enlarge both of those functions and add yet another--the massive construction of internal military training facilities.

World War II:
U.S. Mobilization Begins

The Nazi invasion of Poland and subsequent declarations of war on Germany by England and France in September 1939 plunged Europe into war.  Though not yet directly involved, the United States‑‑later called "a sleeping giant" by Japanese Admiral Yamamoto‑‑began to toss and turn.  By the spring of 1940, the first peacetime military mobilization in the history of the country was in progress, though on a tiny scale compared with what was to come.  In May 1940, Congress adopted a proposal to provide for the training of 7,000 pilots.  By fall this had been raised to 12,000, and in February 1941 the call up was increased dramatically to 30,000 a year in 84 combat groups.  Also, in 1941, the Army made plans to expand its ground forces‑‑whose strength was under 400,000‑‑to 4,000,000.  To reach that figure, Congress in July of that year enacted the first peacetime draft in American history.

As tens of thousands of men and women entered military service, it quickly became apparent that the most important factor in mobilization was military construction.  After two decades of peace, facilities were sorely lacking.  Practically from bare ground‑‑or worse‑‑air bases, auxiliary airfields, army camps, ordnance plants, hospitals, and other facilities had to be built to house, equip, and train the new mass army.  

Military Construction:

The Quartermaster Corps

Since World War I, construction of internal military facilities had been a function of the Construction Division of the U.S. Army Quartermaster Corps (QMC).  However, during the postwar demobilization and subsequent American policy of isolationism, the Quartermasters had gone through a decline in manpower and influence.  They were ill prepared for the avalanche of work orders that began to descend in 1940.  Accustomed to erecting housing facilities and to the logistics of supply, the QMC was especially inexperienced in the newer technology of airfield construction, was plagued by over centralized administration, and was often burdened with obsolete plans.  

By late 1940, the Quartermaster Chief Lt. General Brehon Somervell arrived at project report statistics simply by dividing the actual expenditures to date by the total allotment for a project.  Thus, if a project had received an appropriation of $1,000,000 and $800,000 had been spent, the QMC publicized it as being eighty percent complete.  Expenditures for materials were included in calculations even if the materials were only stockpiled.  QMC projects "statistically" near completion were often months from actual useful occupation.

Military Construction:

The Transfer to the Corps of Engineers

QMC problems soon caught the attention of Army planners, who called for change.  Since the Corps of Engineers had long been engaged in large-scale civil construction projects, the Army shifted part of the burden of military construction to it in late 1940.  The engineers particularly took over QMC projects involving airfields.

Corps of Engineers successes led to a rapidly expanding construction role.  The shift culminated in a massive redistribution of power and responsibility, when in December 1941, the Army assigned all military construction in the United States to the engineers.  Over the next four years the Corps was involved in a building program that embraced more than 27,000 projects, large and small, costing over $15.3 billion.  Corps construction projects included 1,875 posts, camps and stations, 67 general hospitals, 22 aircraft assembly plants, 174 ordnance plants, and the Pentagon.  From a peacetime force of 178 military and 39,000 full-time civilian personnel in 1939, the Corps eventually totaled almost 700,000 personnel, 20 percent of whom were black.  In some areas of the Pacific, Corps personnel actually outnumbered the infantry.  Small wonder that MacArthur called the Pacific theater an "engineer's war."

Construction Dilemmas
The shift to military construction in 1941 was rife with difficulties, particularly in areas where Air Corps site selection boards had chosen poor building locations or where construction had already been started by the Quartermasters.  There were also the inevitable personal and institutional conflicts between the Engineers and the Quartermasters as the latter's functions were pre-empted.  Corps personnel soon became more than familiar with a multitude of additional difficulties, ranging from quarrels with base commanders, intransigent site selection committees, unrealistic contracting methods, material shortages, labor disputes, political interference, and public relations imprecations.

Nonetheless, by 1942 the Corps of Engineers was performing its expanded mission smoothly.  Accustomed to flood control, dam and harbor improvement, and other major civil projects, the Corps proved capable of shifting its earth moving, harbor improvement, drainage, and paving skills to different purposes.  Extolling the success of the Corps in its new role, a general staff study in 1945 noted that "No civil works agency not headed by military officers could conceivably convert itself as rapidly and effectively to perform such tasks [military construction], particularly in a pre-war period comparable to 1940-41."  General Dwight D. Eisenhower in a post-war comment further stated, "I believe that the river and harbor program does more to train our engineers in the large concepts by which they perform their wartime missions than could any other field of endeavor."


PART II


THE VICKSBURG DISTRICT


AND THE COMING OF WAR

The Corps and the Vicksburg District
In structure, the Chief of Engineers, headquartered in Washington, D. C, heads the Corps of Engineers. As an administrative entity, Corps headquarters was referred to as the Office of the Chief of Engineers, commonly shortened to the acronym OCE.  During World War II, the position of Chief of Engineers was held first by Maj. General Julian Schley until October 1941 and then by Lt. General Eugene Reybold until October 1945.

Under OCE administration, in 1940, the United States and its dependencies were divided into thirteen Corps of Engineers divisions based on geographical considerations.  These included, for example, the New England, Ohio River, and South Atlantic Divisions.  A regular Army officer with the title Division Engineer headed each.  Divisions were in turn subdivided into districts.  The Vicksburg District was one of four districts of the Lower Mississippi Valley Division (LMVD), the remaining three being headquartered at St. Louis, Memphis, and New Orleans.

The Lower Mississippi Valley Division stretched through the Mississippi River valley roughly from St. Louis south to the mouth of the Mississippi.  The Vicksburg District typically included the vital stretch of the Mississippi River from just below Memphis to the mouth of the Red River, which enters the Mississippi about 150 river miles north of New Orleans.  It extended eastward into the state of Mississippi to include the basins of the tributaries of the Mississippi, such as the Yazoo and Big Black rivers.  To the west, the district incorporated southeastern Arkansas and all of Louisiana north of the Old River floodway, including the basins of the Red and Ouachita rivers.

The district's borders have been altered periodically for various reasons.  For example, early in World War II, the district temporarily extended eastward as far as Meridian, Mississippi, to encompass military construction there.  In 1943, the district withdrew to the west of Jackson, Mississippi, as the Corps Mobile District took over residual construction activities to the east.  In 1981, the district again stretched east to take in the Pearl River Basin, which had suffered severe flooding two years earlier.

Prior to the outbreak of war in Europe in 1939, the Vicksburg District had spent most of its fifty-five year existence primarily in a battle to control flooding of the Mississippi River and to improve navigation on the Mississippi and its tributaries.  Levee building, revetment, snagging, dredging, and cutoff construction had by 1937 brought a degree of control to the "Big River," as the great flood of that year was held in check.  In addition, in the late 1930s, the district was involved in the construction of the massive flood control reservoir at Sardis, Mississippi, in the Upper Yazoo Basin.

Samuel Sturgis, District Engineer
A regular Army officer with the title District Engineer (DE) heads corps of Engineer districts.    The District Engineer in turn often has only one active Army assistant on his peacetime staff.  All other employees are civilians, though many typically were, and are, members of the Army Reserve.

As war approached, the Vicksburg District was fortunate to have DE Major Samuel D. Sturgis, who assumed the office in September 1940.  A native of Minnesota and West Point graduate of 1918, Sturgis had quite a military pedigree.  He was the grandson of Brig. General Samuel D. Sturgis, son of Maj. General Samuel D. Sturgis, and nephew of Lt. James G. Sturgis, whose career ended prematurely with George Armstrong Custer at Little Big Horn in 1876.   The Sturgis family had one previous unfortunate Mississippi connection:  The first Gen. Sturgis had been routed at the Battle of Brice's Crossroads by Nathan Bedford Forrest on June 10, 1864, one of the classic beatings of the Civil War.  Perhaps the Vicksburg DE saw his appointment as a potential triumphal return.

The District Shifts

to Military Construction
In 1940 the district began to stir as the Army Air Corps responded to Congress' call for the new pilot training programs.  Sturgis received orders in November to take over construction of all Army Air Corps projects in his district that had been assigned to the Quartermaster Corps.  In fact, the only existing base assumed by the district at that time was Barksdale Field, Shreveport, Louisiana.  A permanent facility, Barksdale was already the major training facility in the entire region.  There, construction of the primary runways was completed, so that the district took over peripheral projects without particular incident.

Activities escalated when in December 1940 the Vicksburg District inherited a full-scale Air Corps project at Jackson, Mississippi, and in January 1941, assumed responsibility for a similar base at Meridian, Mississippi.  Army planners had first assigned both to the QMC, then had transferred them to the Mobile District.  Upon further consideration of available resources and construction assignments of its Vicksburg and Mobile organizations, OCE redirected the ventures to Vicksburg.

 The Meridian Headache 
Sturgis found the situation at both Air Corps locations far from satisfactory.  The Meridian site, however, proved a particular source of consternation.

An Air Corps Site Selection Board had, in 1940, chosen Key Field, the municipal airport at Meridian, as a site for a tactical base.  Plans called for a cantonment of 106 permanent buildings, a 75-bed hospital, a tent camp, and greatly expanded and improved runways.   The Quartermasters had already begun the work of expanding the existing runway when the project was transferred to the Corps of Engineers.

On his first inspection tour to Meridian in January 1941, Sturgis received a rude shock.  The base area bordered Okatibee Creek, which frequently overflowed and every two or three years inundated the area.  The DE noted that a costly levee would have to be raised before further construction could proceed, even at the risk of increasing the glide angle of aircraft above safe limits.

Further, the Meridian runways had been paved with soil cement, a mixture of cement and natural soil.  Sturgis, seldom one to mince words, called the surfacing "a complete waste of money" laid by "construction ignoramuses."  Soil cement had been moderately successful where subgrades were sandy, but was a total failure in plastic soils like the Meridian clay.  There, the impervious subgrade produced so weak a runway that the wheels of newer, heavier planes "cut through it like a knife." Stronger pavement or asphalt would be necessary.  

Sturgis Takes on the Base Commander 
Personal conflict between Sturgis and Colonel William B. Wright, the Air Base commanding officer, soon compounded the Meridian dilemma. Wright and a handful of subordinates arrived at the facility in March 1941, as it was the practice of the Air Corps to dispatch commanding officers and their staffs to construction sites even before housing facilities were available.  Wright was determined to make his new bailiwick a model facility and was heard to comment that the Meridian base would be "the best in the South." Wright or members of his staff regularly flew or motored to air bases throughout the country, returning with suggestions to this end.

Subsequently, Wright bombarded Sturgis and the Corps project engineer, G. A. Langhofer, almost daily with requests to enhance or alter various aspects of the base as it was under construction.  Up to twelve "requests" per day were not unusual.  Unfortunately, many of these went beyond Sturgis' directives, were extravagant, or in some cases outright conflicted with War Department standards.

Wright demanded "necessary" electric water coolers for all main buildings at the station at an expense of $10,626, although a War Department circular clearly stated that no such luxuries would be provided.  Further communications insisted that all the main highways on the base be paved "in accordance with the specifications of the best main stem highways throughout the United States." Sturgis' instructions, however, were to construct camp roads with "a maximum of economy consistent with the traffic that will be used upon them." On a more frivolous note, Wright complained that the outhouse for Corps personnel at their work site headquarters was painted magnificently in the Corps logo while others were left bare.

The Conflict Expands


           By May 1941, Wright had submitted 145 requests for alterations to Langhofer or Sturgis, nearly all of which were denied.  The crowning blow fell on May 22 when he sent a formal complaint to the chief of the Air Corps accusing Sturgis of "failure on the part of the District Engineer to accede to requests of the Base Commander," and requesting that "control of all funds now in the hands of the Corps of Engineers be placed under the Commanding Officer, Meridian Air Base."  Such a request violated all established policy.  Wright's complaint was forwarded to Chief of Engineers Schley, who in June sent Colonel Charles H. Patterson, Inspector General, to investigate. 

Even before the arrival of Patterson, the Meridian situation had been brought to the attention of Brig. General Max Tyler, Division Engineer of the Lower Mississippi Valley Division. Tyler, after visiting the site, concluded that the requests and actions of Wright were unreasonable and that Sturgis and Langhofer were justified in refusing to accede to his demands.  In a letter of May 22, the same date as Wright’s letter to the Chief of the Air Corps, Tyler specifically prohibited Sturgis from altering standard Air Corps cantonment plans without prior approval.

The Inspector General

In July, Inspector General Patterson took testimony from the principals involved, including Tyler, Sturgis, Wright, and Langhofer, which indicated that the base commander's requests for alterations would have added approximately $312,000 to the cost of construction.  However, only $39,000 had actually been approved.  Langhofer testified that 70 percent of his time was wasted trying to keep up with requests for revisions by Wright, while Sturgis emphasized that there were no such difficulties involved in other simultaneous projects such as Jackson Air Base and Barksdale Field.  After praising the commanding officers at the latter locations, the DE in his testimony concluded that he could not recall "one single instance in which the Commanding officer, Meridian Air Base, had ever cooperated insofar as securing reasonably satisfactory results with reference to economy is concerned."

On the strength of this testimony and other evidence, Patterson’s report to OCE amounted to a complete vindication of the district engineer and a stinging criticism of Wright.  Specifically, Patterson castigated the base commander for attempting to give orders directly to Corps personnel and contractors rather than transmitting them through proper channels, for passing judgment on technical matters such as plans for utilities which required "patient and detailed explanations from Engineer representatives," and for requesting such a large volume of alterations and additions as to impose "an intolerable burden" on the project and district engineers.

Patterson, on the other hand, stated that Sturgis had "handled the construction of Meridian Air Base in a commendable manner." Schley endorsed the report of the Inspector General.  All remaining construction funds were to remain with the office of the Vicksburg District Engineer. Schley also requested that the Chief of the Air Corps insure that Wright be prevented from interfering further with construction at the base and stated unequivocally that the wisdom of placing construction of air bases in the hands of the Corps of Engineers and its district engineers had been justified.

Sturgis Takes on the City and the WPA
In the meantime, Sturgis had done battle with the government of Meridian and the New Deal.  To encourage the Air Corps to choose Key Field as a construction site, the city had promised to provide complete water and sewer facilities.  To that end the city had arranged to act as local sponsor for a Works Progress Administration (WPA) project at Key Field.  The project would include various clearing, grading, drainage, and building work in addition to the laying of water and sewer lines.  This led to interminable confusion because the Corps and WPA projects were totally separate with no coordination whatsoever.

By April 1941, the water-sewer lines had yet to be laid, Corps personnel were still using the infamous outhouse, and the city government tried to back out of the entire arrangement.  This breach of confidence led Sturgis to complain to OCE, which in turn on April 17 ordered the DE to stop all work, despite the fact that construction was well under way, until the city made an "unconditional agreement" to provide the promised services.  This promise was forthcoming two days later, but the episode did not portend smooth sailing between the Corps and local interests in the future.

The WPA irritant proved to be a lingering sore.  By September, when most runway paving should have been completed, the WPA drainage projects were far behind schedule and were holding up the entire effort.  This led to a barrage of complaints by Sturgis who referred to the WPA as "hopeless" and demanded that the entire operation be taken over by the Corps.  To further complicate matters, union laborers at the site threatened to strike if work was delayed, while the International Office of the Electrical Workers' Union complained directly to OCE about the presence of WPA electricians at Meridian who competed with their unionized counterparts at lower pay.  WPA electricians were paid $0.57 per hour compared to $1.25 for union labor.  Though most runway paving was completed at the base by late fall 1941, poor drainage due to faulty site selection and poor WPA workmanship continued to plague the facility throughout its use.

Jackson Army Air Base
Construction of the Air Corps base at Jackson, originally planned as a 2,500‑man facility for the 38th Bombardment Group, was also not without incident.  As Sturgis knew nothing of the site, he motored to Jackson the afternoon the assignment arrived in December 1940 to get a personal look.  Part of the base was to utilize the existing municipal Hawkins Field, with other construction to be mainly on a purchased area slightly to the west.  The veteran engineer quickly noted that a creek ran diagonally across the latter area, and his suspicions were aroused as to its flooding potential.  He was particularly concerned that for a great distance around there were no buildings less than ten to twelve feet above the stream banks, leading him to conclude that flooding was not uncommon.  As became the pattern, drainage improvements and flood protection works would be necessary before military construction could begin.

The Jackson project also introduced Sturgis to the realities of state and local politics.  The Jackson City Engineer, he noted, was a "darned good man," but otherwise "the mayor and his henchmen seemed just about as political a group as you will ever want to find." Almost immediately the DE was hounded by contractors with connections at Jackson City Hall "hinting at this, that, and the other." At a higher level entirely, Sturgis received a telegram in January 1941 from U. S. Senator Theodore G. Bilbo demanding to know immediately by wire what contractors were being considered for the Jackson base, in order to make "suggestions."

Bilbo: The Senatorial Touch
Bilbo, the junior senator from Mississippi, during the remainder of 1941 took more than a passing interest in Corps projects throughout his state.  The Meridian Air Corps site, ​already evolving into Sturgis' major headache, fittingly became the primary target.  In February, despite being informed that such decisions were entirely in the hands of the Corps of Engineers, Bilbo wrote directly to Secretary of War Henry Stimson insisting that a Jackson, Mississippi, construction company be approved by the Corps for parts of the Meridian project.  In March the senator personally lobbied Chief of Engineers Schley on behalf of another Jackson firm.  Neither effort was successful.

In February Schley also received a letter from Bilbo encouraging the use of brick instead of concrete whenever possible at the Meridian facility.  Not coincidentally, this had been suggested to the senator by the Meridian Brick Co. of nearby Bonita, Mississippi.  In an act of supreme irony, although a bitter foe of organized labor, Bilbo at the behest of the local bricklayers union recommended to Schley in July that all officers' quarters at Meridian be of brick!

Greenville Army Air Base
In February 1941, an Air Corps Site Selection Board picked Greenville, Mississippi, as the location of a training center for the Second Aviation Initiative, designating three potential construction sites.  Unlike the previous bases at Barksdale, Jackson, and Meridian, the Greenville site was assigned originally to the Vicksburg District and would be Sturgis' project from the start.   However, the Mississippi Delta with its swamps, alluvial soil, heavy rains, drainage problems, and thick fogs seemed to Sturgis an unlikely place to put an air base.  He recommended that the Air Corps abandon the area and build farther north. 

When the Site Selection Board insisted on staying in the Greenville area, the DE settled for what he could get:  he persuaded the Air Corps to give up on the three sites under consideration and choose another, the highest and most easily drained in the vicinity.  Even this had an obligatory creek.  The project was further stymied when Sturgis, after numerous delays, in June finally received plans from the Air Corps for construction of an air base at Greenville--South Carolina.

Nonetheless, by mid-June construction at the 2,000‑acre, 140‑building site was in full progress.  One key to this rapid action was that Sturgis negotiated the primary contract with Black and Veach, a Kansas City architectural and engineering firm that was finishing its work at Jackson Air Base and still had equipment there.  Despite political pressure to the contrary, Sturgis was already finding it easier to deal with out-of-state firms that were a known quantity and were familiar with governmental regulations, methods, and specifications.  William Harrison, the Corps project engineer at Jackson also transferred to Greenville, insuring a smooth transition.  Sturgis later referred to Harrison as the finest project engineer he had ever seen.

The Air Corps activated the Greenville base in August 1940, only two months after construction commenced.  The first planes arrived on November 5, and the training of pilots forthwith began‑‑​one full month ahead of schedule.

PART III


THE DELUGE:


THE DISTRICT IN 1942

The Engineers Take Over
The stirrings of 1940-41 were minor compared to the flush of activity in the district in 1942.  News of the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor had hardly crackled over the radios in Vicksburg before full-scale mobilization began.  Almost overnight, the district's military personnel increased from two to over forty, as reservists like Chief of Engineering Division Raymond Sauer were entered on active duty and other officers were transferred in.

The shock of global war coincided almost exactly with the transfer of all military construction in the United States to the Corps of Engineers.  Throughout 1941, as larger construction tasks loomed ahead, it had become apparent that some solution must be arrived at concerning the discordant functions and claims of the Quartermasters and the Engineers.  By fall, despite vehement protests from the QMC, sympathy in Congress was strong to shift the entire construction burden to the Engineers.  Questions arose as to the Corps qualifications for the job.  As the official Army history noted: 

Embracing fortifications, rivers and harbors improvements, flood control projects, roads, railroads, dams, and canals, the Corps' experience in heavy construction was unequaled by that of any other engineering outfit in the world.  But as its adversaries emphasized, the Corps had little acquaintance with the type of structural work supervised by the Quartermaster General.  In fact, the Engineers claimed no special competence in the housing and building fields.  Confidence in their organization, in its strength and versatility, explained their willingness to tackle all military construction.

The performance of the engineers on Air Corps projects since November 1940‑‑including Meridian, Jackson, and Greenville‑‑was seen by many as a practical test of the Corps abilities.  Maj. General Ewart G. Plank of the Corps of Engineers later commented that before the engineers took over Air Corps construction for the Quartermasters, "it was just simple chaos" with procedures "cock-eyed and crazy." Sturgis' comments were often not as polite.

Continuing through 1941, as Corps construction activities spiraled upward, the engineers brought order to the field, applying work methods that over the years had proved successful on rivers and harbors construction to the Air Corps projects.  The engineers solved tasks that had proven difficult to the QMC, such as the runway paving fiasco at Meridian, with relative ease.  Base location miseries were also alleviated when in March 1941, the Air Corps finally appointed engineer representatives to its Site Selection Board.  Congressional investigations in that year further criticized QMC efforts while raising no serious objections to the engineers.

Consequently, Congress in November 1941 passed the landmark measure transferring all military construction to the Corps.  Signed into law by President Franklin D. Roosevelt on December 1, it became effective on December 16.  Barely a week had passed since Pearl Harbor.

Decentralized Administration
In its construction activities, the Corps of Engineers throughout the war operated in a highly decentralized fashion.  In general, the Office of the Chief of Engineers did advance planning and established construction guidelines, but the details and responsibility for their enactment were left largely to the division and district engineers.  Already, in the Air Corps projects of 1941, OCE had given the division and district chiefs great leeway.  Chief of Engineers Reybold in particular held that the district engineers were most familiar with local problems of labor, supply, and terrain and could expedite construction more effectively than could any centralized authority.  The QMC had in fact relied on the latter with most undesirable results.  Engineer districts also had established long-term working relationships with local contractors and had numerous contacts with area political, civic, and financial leaders.  

Commitment to Speed
In wartime construction, speed was of the essence.  In order to hasten activities, OCE transmitted general directives to division or district engineers by Teletype before more explicit written orders could be sent.  At the Vicksburg office, in the Post Office on Crawford Street, clerks manned the teletype machine twenty-four hours a day, as messages were prone to arrive at any time, often long after midnight.

From December 1941 through November 1942, the same scenario was played out time after time.  The clanging of the warning bell alerted the clerk, then the teletype beat out its rhythmic message, and word after word, a directive clicked off to institute, enlarge, or alter some Army facility in the district.  Within hours Sturgis and his staff were at work pouring over plans, considering contractors, issuing orders for the procurement of materials, and searching for competent workmen.

Engineering, Manpower, and Materials:
Problems and Solutions
Through its crucial construction period in 1942, the Vicksburg District faced three particular regional problems:  difficult geological, climatic, and soil conditions; shortages of manpower; and a chronic lack of essential materials.  The foundation soils of the Mississippi Valley, coupled with its climate, form one of the most difficult combinations found by construction engineers.  Soils vary as greatly as the topography of the rich flatlands of the Mississippi Delta differs from the rugged hills and piney woods adjoining.  In central Mississippi engineers struggled with unstable clay soils, while in the Delta the low, flat lands and sluggish streams required constant flood and drainage work.  At air bases such as Greenville, Mississippi, and Pollock, Louisiana, the topsoil was constantly wet and difficult to handle.  Runways and taxiways had to have thicker pavement than in most circumstances to make them stable, and all foundations had to be handled with extreme care.  At Jackson, engineers found the shifting Yazoo clay at Hawkins Field to be particularly treacherous.

Concerning the labor problem, the district did have one advantage:  its personnel had been trained in construction activity and, while its organization was tremendously expanded, it had an experienced cadre to build around.  It was the mass labor‑‑​carpenters, plumbers, steamfitters, electricians, and common laborers--who proved to be more difficult.  The district was almost exclusively agricultural, and the principal construction period was during the normal crop season.   Hence the common laborers, available in other seasons, had to stay with their crops.  In addition, much of the more skilled labor had already flowed to industrial centers where wages were higher and working conditions better.  What the District had plenty of, Sturgis lamented, were "cotton and unskilled Negroes."  Most military projects were located in small communities, sometimes miles from a town, and the predetermined wage scale of the district's projects was the lowest in the country.

Material shortages necessitated constant adjustments, but it was here that the district showed the most ingenuity.  Simply by putting into practice two relatively simple ideas, Sturgis and his aides eliminated a great deal of trouble.  First, they designed "around" critical materials by making construction plans fit what they knew to be available.  Second, they sought out smaller manufacturers and suppliers not burdened with massive backlogs of orders.

As examples of the former, on projects where structural steel was not available for elevated water tanks, workers dug concrete-lined reservoirs in the ground and covered them with trussed roofs.  Pumps provided pressure.  At Japanese​-American civilian relocation centers in Arkansas, progress was delayed by the lack of plumbing fixtures such as flush valves for toilets.  Quickly designed alternative latrines, flushed with buckets, and the use of laundry tubs for washbasins made the facilities ready for "beneficial" occupancy until permanent fixtures could arrive.  As Sturgis stated in a letter to OCE on September 26, 1942, concerning material shortages, the Vicksburg District "can't squeeze blood out of an onion . . . but we have created blood by laboratory methods anyhow."

As to the latter, quality lumber proved to be the most difficult commodity to acquire.  Lumber auctions often provided only one-third of the district's current needs.  Thus, district personnel had to scramble all over the country buying lumber in "dibs and dabs," often at inflated prices.  Sturgis constantly found it necessary to use his personal contacts with "friends" in the lumber business and with big contractors to come up with the required materials.

At Greenwood Air Base, Mississippi, a large contractor notified the District Engineer that necessary copper wire could not be obtained because the War Production Board had reduced his quota.  Troops were scheduled to move onto the post in three weeks and the electrical system had to be finished in time.  Sturgis contacted Rural Electrification Administration cooperatives, municipal power companies, small suppliers‑‑anybody who might have even a tiny supply of copper wire.  Finally, from ten different sources, enough wire was located.  Then district personnel supervised the loading of materials and accompanied each shipment in transit all the way to the work site.  The troops moved in on time.

Not all supply crises were so judiciously handled.  Two Vicksburg District projects were stalled by the lack of 12‑in. diameter cast-iron pipe:  the Air Corps Navigation School at Monroe, Louisiana, and the huge ammonia plant at El Dorado, Arkansas. 

Sturgis finally got priority assistance for the Monroe location.  However, because El Dorado was so critical to the munitions industry, Sturgis went there in person and spent most of a day haggling with the Army bureaucracy in Washington over the phone.  He was consequently assured that El Dorado would get the needed pipe.  After driving back to Vicksburg that night, Sturgis went by his office to check the Teletype.  There sat two messages, one that confirmed approval for the El Dorado pipe and one that canceled approval for the Monroe pipe because it was needed at El Dorado.

Public Affairs Nightmares
Inevitably, the mobilization of millions of men and women with attendant expenditures of hundreds of millions of dollars aroused public scrutiny.  As the most visible element of preparation, military construction provided the most tempting target.  During the first fall and winter of defense preparations in 1939-40, newspapers and magazines presented sketchy, often one-sided pictures of military construction.  Sensational articles detailing cost overruns, nepotism, incompetence, avoidable delays, union shakedowns, and other horror stories pertaining to QMC projects became commonplace.

By late 1940, the public attitude toward military construction was one of suspicion--if not outright distrust, despite an aggressive public relations campaign by the Quartermasters that claimed a "brilliant accomplishment and glittering success."  Memories of major scandals from World War I were still fresh.  Consequently, the QMC and later the Corps of Engineers found themselves fighting a constant public image campaign which lasted the duration of World War II.

Congressional Investigations
Where public arousal led, congressional investigation soon followed.  By the spring of 1941, Congress was prepared to launch a full-scale probe of military construction.  The House created a special committee chaired by Rep. R. Ewing Thomason of Texas to consider military real estate procurement and construction, while the junior senator from Missouri, Harry S. Truman, headed a corresponding Senate committee.  Both committees sent investigators to job sites throughout the country, including the Vicksburg District, and sometimes the congressmen visited locations in person.

A Senate committee report, completed in August 1941, ​constituted a stinging indictment of military ineptitude, shortsightedness, and extravagance.  In particular, the report sharply criticized the QMC for mistakes in estimates, for mishandling land acquisitions, for permitting contractors to make faulty layouts, for using slipshod administrative methods, and for paying too much for equipment rentals.

On the positive side, the committee found no evidence of outright fraud or dishonesty.  The findings of the House committee were less critical and, in fact, defended some procedures attacked by the Truman group.  Still, without question, the reputation of the Army in general and the Quartermasters in particular had been damaged, a legacy the Engineers inherited with the burden of military construction.

Although the primary investigative activities of the Congressional committees had been completed by the fall of 1941‑‑just as the bulk of construction was being shifted to the Corps of Engineers‑‑Congressional hearings, visits to job sites, and committee reports continued through the war.  Journalistic efforts, coupled with these governmental endeavors, presented continuous distractions to Corps administrators.

Sturgis and the Public Image
In the Vicksburg District, Sturgis found the "public image" problem yet another headache.  He lamented that public image was an area in which "rumors prevailed and, with the American press putting priority on sensationalism, grew out of all proportion to the facts of construction, of which news reporters knew little." He further concluded, in relation to his particular circumstances, that in cities, where construction was better understood, people were far less troubled than in isolated, remote areas where "citizens seize every bit of gossip and blow it up until it is not recognizable . . . Watch out for a project in the middle of a rural area." For example, the day Sturgis completed a routine inspection of the Louisiana Ordnance Plant at Minden, the Shreveport paper bannered "Corps of Engineers to be investigated for waste, graft, extravagance at the Louisiana Ordnance Plant."

Actually, congressional investigators found relatively little to complain about in Sturgis' domain.  The shoe, rather, was on the other foot as far as the DE was concerned.  He noted that site visits from QMC supervisors (before the transfer of construction responsibilities to the Engineers), then from OCE representatives, the regular Army Zone Staff, and from Congressional investigators‑‑​some of which lasted for weeks‑‑took an enormous bite out of the time of project engineers and their staffs and were in general a waste of effort.

The Minden Fiasco

An incident at the Minden Ordnance Plant, Louisiana, in February 1942 particularly rankled the DE.  Representatives from both the Thomason House and Truman Senate committees were present.  Sturgis, in a lengthy report to the Chief of Engineers on February 27, complained that the House investigator had conducted himself in such a way as to undermine morale and discipline on the project by threatening employees, repeating unfounded innuendoes, and creating a "Gestapo-like" air with his inquisitorial manner.

The culminating event, Sturgis reported, took place in the early morning hours of February 18 when the investigator showed up drunk at the construction site, commandeered a project police station wagon, and drove around the reservation threatening to have workers discharged.  He found a bulldozer on fire where a small amount of oil had ignited.  This was extinguished by the operator within a matter of seconds, but not before the investigator had called over the radio in the station wagon for the fire department and had cursed the project engineer for gross negligence.

Sturgis' report to OCE of February 27 stated that on February 20 he met with the chief Senate investigator to discuss the recent unpleasantness.  The DE found the investigator to be "pleasant, well-informed, and helpful." Sturgis played a tape recording of the House investigator's remarks via the radio in the station wagon and expressed his convictions that the House investigator was seriously damaging progress on the job site.  The DE then asked the Senate investigator for his advice, at which the latter simply asked for the tape of the other investigator's drunken remarks.

Five days later, according to Sturgis, the House investigator had departed the premises and his whereabouts was unknown.  In the meantime, however, he had apologized to a representative of the contractor and had further stated that his visit had disclosed nothing radically wrong with the overall conduct of the project.  This was of small consolation to the other principals involved, in that invaluable time had already been wasted, including Sturgis' meeting with the Senate investigator, the taking of statements from nine eyewitnesses to the incidents of February 18, and the preparation of a lengthy report for OCE.

Contracting Problems

In addition to engineering, manpower, material, and public relations difficulties, the Vicksburg District faced complex problems in contracting.  Military contracting had long been a subject of controversy and had undergone a motley evolution prior to 1942.  Before World War I, contracts for military construction had by law been "fixed-price" agreements.  The Army was required to advertise construction projects and to publicly solicit bids.  The award then went to the lowest bidder who promised to furnish materials and complete construction within a time limit according to detailed plans and specifications.  The contractor often received a lump-sum payment, with any amount above expenses being profit.  Fixed-price contracts tended in general to hold bid prices down, except when there was collusion between contractors, but could be used only when complete plans and specifications were available and labor and material markets were stable.  It was also often time consuming to advertise and take bids. 

During World War I, when speed was paramount, the Army maintained fixed-price contracting into 1917, but without public advertising or bidding.  Instead, the Army Construction Division negotiated contracts privately with qualified firms.  When this also proved too slow, fixed-price contracts gave way to "cost-plus-a-percentage-of -cost" agreements whereby, the government would foot nearly all the bills of the contractor, then pay the contractor a fixed percentage of the cost as profit.  Construction could begin at once without specifications, and changes could be made easily.  Unfortunately, cost-plus-percentage contracts required constant and vigilant supervision by the government and often led to profiteering, as some contractors exaggerated costs to maximize profits.

Post-war criticisms of cost-plus-percentage contracts led to the introduction in 1918 of "cost-plus-a-fixed-fee” (CPFF) guidelines by Congress that were favored by most construction and military authorities.  CPFF contracts required the contractor to furnish labor, materials, and equipment, and do everything necessary to complete a job in the shortest possible time.  The government would reimburse the contractor for all expenses except overhead, executive salaries, and interest on loans.  The contractor would then receive a specific fee determined at the time of negotiation and based on the original cost estimate.  No change could be made in the fee amount unless the scope of the project was materially altered, so that the contractor's fee was much like a salary.  CPFF contracts, according to their proponents, preserved the speed of cost-plus-percentage contracts but avoided rewards for extravagance.

Despite "internal" support for CPFF contracting, the experiment was short-lived.  By 1920, due to political pressures, fixed-price arrangements with competitive advertised bidding had been restored, and by the 1930s had become practically sacrosanct.  With the rumblings of mobilization in 1939, however, Congress revived the use of CPFF contracts in exceptional circumstances, especially where details were lacking.  A second CPFF bill in 1940 allowed negotiated contracts with no advertising or bidding in "essential” cases.  Most contracting, though, was still fixed-price.  Thus, when the Corps of Engineers began to shoulder the burden of construction in 1940-41, it was authorized to contract, according to circumstances, either by fixed-price or fixed-fee methods and through advertised bids or private negotiations.

New Contracting Solutions
Regardless of the type of contract, Corps division and district engineers exercised great leeway.  In December 1941, OCE empowered division engineers to approve negotiated contracts of $5 million or less without authority from the Chief of Engineers, while district engineers were to negotiate contracts in amounts up to $2 million.  By March 1942, OCE raised the latter figure to $3 million, and enlarged the scope of duties of the district engineers to include selection of contractors for negotiated agreements.

District engineers then began compiling data on contractors.  Sturgis, recalling how he went about the task of selection, said:

I set up standards for making recommendations based on size of firm; availability of heavy equipment and its condition; financial situation; previous experience; adequate key personnel, etc.  These standards were weighted as they were made and first choice was given to the firm with the highest score.  With the heavy political pressure behind various firms, we found it highly advisable to keep these records on file.

Sturgis made frequent use of CPFF contracts during the early months of construction, particularly where the Army had neither the time nor the information necessary for detailed planning.  But by 1942 there was strong political pressure to return to fixed-price agreements.  

Unfavorable and often one-sided publicity had rendered CPFF contracts synonymous in the public mind with favoritism, extravagance, and waste.  Chief of Engineers Reybold also tended to favor fixed-price agreements because CPFF contracts required detailed supervision and, as construction boomed, they were becoming difficult to monitor.

In some cases, Sturgis took advantage of the wisdom of decentralization to arrange a practical combination of fixed-price and fixed-fee contracts for the same facility.  Fixed-price contracts could be let for major facilities such as barracks and hangars, where plans and specifications were precise, while CPFF contracts would allow work to start immediately on the less certain roads, railroad spurs, and utilities necessary before commencement on the other structures could begin.

Sturgis described how he used this approach:

In May 1942, lump sum pressure became very heavy on the field.  At this time I received a directive for a reregulating depot in northern Louisiana for urgent completion . . . This site was located in a wet forest and was none too good.  Therefore, I tried another contract approach.  This involved a CPFF contract for roads, drainage, and utilities.  In the meantime (about 6 weeks), high quality specs were drawn and invitations to bid for lump sum contracts were advertised. Surprisingly low bids resulted for the remainder of the aboveground work, including warehouses, engine "roundhouse," barracks for the operating personnel, and so forth.  I believe that this resulted mainly from the CPFF contract having first removed the risks by construction of those features (roads, utilities, etc.) which were the most uncertain, as well as the careful and complete plans and specs upon which the contractor, in his bid, could depend.

On other projects the DE even resorted to an ingenious combination of three types of contracts:  CPFF for roads, rail spurs, and utilities; fixed-price for major structures; and unit price for smaller items.

Effective contracting often spelled relative success or failure for a project.  At Camp McCain, Mississippi, Sturgis resorted to a huge fixed-fee arrangement with one contractor for the bulk of work because detailed specifications were available for most structural work.  Sturgis' counterpart in the New Orleans District, charged with constructing the similar Camp Van Dorn in southwest Mississippi, engaged in a complex series of almost twenty subcontracts which, according to Sturgis, was the primary factor delaying completion of the facility.  Though started after Van Dorn, McCain was finished two months earlier at a lesser cost.

As construction progressed through 1942, improved planning techniques, more liberal procurement regulations, and new contracting methods assured that fixed-price methods could gradually supersede fixed-fee.  Learning from experience, Corps officials made higher-level decisions more promptly while district engineers and contractors became more accustomed to the problems they faced.  By 1943, fixed-fee and other forms of contracting had practically disappeared, and the Corps had reverted for practical purposes to peacetime methods of fixed-price agreements, though with competitive negotiations substituted for formal advertisements and bids.  Clearly, the evolution of an effective contracting system for the entire Corps was largely due to the efforts of district engineers like Sturgis who molded realistic practices to suit their circumstances.

Organizational Overhauls
New and changing construction functions led to administrative adjustments.  Prior to January 1942, the Operations Division, headed by William L. Lipscomb, administered all military construction in the Vicksburg District.  Corps project engineers on location at Barksdale, Meridian, Jackson, and Greenville in 1941 were immediately responsible to Lipscomb, whose scope of duties already included care of the Mississippi River levees, revetment operations, channel maintenance, and the Yazoo Basin Reservoir Project.  Lipscomb answered directly‑‑and often‑‑to Sturgis.

By early 1942, as the district took over projects from the Quartermasters and received directives for new construction jobs, a major reorganization was in order.  In January 1942, Sturgis formed a special Ordnance Projects Inspection Division under Major (later Lt. Colonel) George A. Morris to coordinate and expedite work on the high priority ordnance plants.  At the same time, the DE established a National Defense Section headed by William Harrison, former project engineer at Jackson and Greenville, within Lipscomb's Operations Division.  This new unit directed military construction operations other than those on ordnance facilities.

In June 1942, the district experienced another overhaul as the burden of construction increased.  Raymond Sauer, Chief of Engineering Division, became Sturgis' Executive Assistant in Charge of War Projects.  Sturgis then relieved Lipscomb and the Operations Division of all military responsibilities, with Lipscomb assuming the post of Executive Assistant for Civil Projects.

To coordinate all military activities, Sturgis next created a new Military Construction Division.  Morris rose to head the organization.  The Military Construction Division consisted of three administrative units:  the Airports, Cantonments, and Depots Section under William Harrison; the Ordnance Projects and Interment Camps Section under Capt. J. I. Boswell; and an Administrative Section under Maj. J. C. Stowers.  Among other tasks, the new division coordinated the shifting of all equipment, materials, and personnel throughout the district; carried on advanced planning, including preparations for the initiation of new projects; and supervised all area engineers (formerly called project engineers).  This organizational structure, created under intense pressure, served the district well through the remainder of its construction phase. 




PART IV


ENGINEERS TRIUMPHANT:


CONSTRUCTION NEAR COMPLETION

The Scope of Work
Despite its travails, the Vicksburg District had, by November 1942, completed or neared completion on over forty military projects.    In Mississippi, these included major Air Corps facilities at Jackson, Meridian, Greenville, and Greenwood; auxiliary air fields at Avalon, Cruger, Greenville, Indianola, Lime Prairie, Oxberry, Paynes, Tchula, Walker, and Raymond; the Air Support Command Base at Grenada; an alien internment camp at Como; the ordnance Training Center and Ordnance Plant at Flora; and Camp McCain near Grenada.  The district had also begun work on a 950‑bed general hospital in Jackson and internment camps at Clinton and Camp McCain.

In Louisiana, the Vicksburg engineers supervised major additions at Barksdale Field at Shreveport, including hangars, bombing ranges, and additions to runways; the Air Support Command Base at Pollock; a reception center and navigation school at Monroe; a holding and reconsignment center at Shreveport; auxiliary air fields at Yellow Bayou and Kimbrough; an enemy internment camp at Ruston; and major ordnance plants at Minden and Sterlington.

Arkansas projects included the massive Ozark Ordnance Works at El Dorado; an internment camp at Monticello; an Army and Navy general hospital at Hot Springs; and Japanese-American civilian relocation centers at Jerome and Rohwer.

Camp McCain
The largest individual project in the district was Camp McCain, an Army Triangular Divisional Training Camp near Grenada, Mississippi.  Camp McCain covered an area of over 40,000 acres and served as an infantry-training site with facilities for 45,000 men.  The first unit activated there was the 87th Infantry, the "Acorn" Division, in December 1942.  Ironically, the first commanding officer of the division at its formation during World War I had been Maj. General Samuel Sturgis, father of the Vicksburg District Engineer.

Other divisions trained with the 87th at McCain were the 84th and 94th infantry.  All saw extensive combat in France, Belgium, and the Rhineland in 1944-45.  The nearby Grenada Air Support Command Base, started August 10, 1942, housed over 2,000 additional troops.  


Army Air Corps Facilities
Greenwood Basic Flying School, Mississippi, was the largest of the "new" wartime Army Air Corps facilities built from the ground up by the district.  Constructed under Sturgis' direction in three months at a cost of $7 million, the Air Corps activated the 5,200‑acre compound in October 1942, with the first class arriving in December.  By mid-1943 the base served as a home for 55 administrative and staff personnel, 24 hospital employees, 131 flight instructors, 72 WACS, 430 aviation cadets, 198 quartermasters, a 30‑man band, finance and signal officers, and over 1,000 aviation squadron trainees, 180 of whom were black.  Eventually over 3,500 people were housed.  Five auxiliary fields‑‑Tchula, Cruger, Avalon, Oxberry, and Paynes‑‑circled the base within a 20‑mile radius.

The Jackson Air Corps Project had the unusual distinction of serving not only as a base for American fliers, but was also selected as the training site for Dutch pilots from the East Indies, particularly Java.  It was supposedly the only such base in this hemisphere to fly the flag of the Netherlands in addition to the Stars and Stripes.  The king and queen of the Netherlands, while in wartime exile, personally visited the facility.

Fliers trained in the district saw service with units in every theater of the war, including Alaska, Australia, New Guinea, the Philippines, India, Burma, China, Great Britain, France, Algeria, Tunisia, Italy, and Germany.  They manned a variety of warplanes from P-38 and P-51 fighters to B-17 and B-25 bombers, plus a multitude of other troop carrier, reconnaissance, and liaison craft. (A list of units trained at district facilities is included as Addendum B.)

Ordnance Plants
The Army transferred three-high priority ordnance plants from the Quartermasters to the Vicksburg engineers in January 1942.  In August 1941, the QMC had broken ground for the Louisiana Ordnance Works, a shell-loading plant near Minden, Louisiana.  Completed by the Corps by June 30, 1942, it cost a total of $25,336,000, making it the most expensive project in the district.

At Sterlington, Louisiana, the QMC had also started work on the Dixie Ordnance Works, an ammonia plant, in October 1941.  The plant in 1942, under engineer management, was plagued by labor problems, particularly shortages of skilled pipe fitters and pipefitting welders.  By fall there were no pipe fitter welders available whatsoever, causing a virtual shutdown of most operations.  Consequently, the job was one of the few in the district that lagged far behind schedule and was only sixty-five percent completed when transferred from the Vicksburg District to the Corps Little Rock District in December 1942. 

Near Flora, Mississippi, the Vicksburg District completed the Mississippi Ordnance Plant in July 1942 at a cost of over $14 million.  The following month the district began the addition of a massive ordnance-training unit at the site, which was seventy-five percent complete within four months.  Covering almost 7,000 acres, the two facilities served as a base for 8,553 personnel.

The engineers started a fourth ordnance plant at El Dorado, Arkansas, in April 1942.  The Ozark Ordnance works, an ammonia nitrate plant, was seventy-five percent complete by December at a cost of $12,265,000.  When finished, its huge gas engine building housed approximately seventy diesel engines that possibly produced more horsepower under one roof than any facility in the world.  At its peak the plant served as a workplace for 1,500 men.

Relocation Centers
Perhaps the most unusual district projects were Japanese​-American civilian relocation centers at Jerome and Rohwer, Arkansas.  When in February 1942 the federal government made the decision to relocate 110,000 American citizens of Japanese ancestry, the Army designated the Vicksburg District as one of the Corps organizations to provide facilities.  This created complications because the engineers were unaccustomed to fabricating housing for family units.  A shortage of plumbers, plumbing supplies, and other materials necessitated numerous changes in design.    Also, according to a district pamphlet published in 1942, furniture had to be scaled down to fit an average height of 5 ft. 4 in. rather than the Army standard of 5 ft. 9 in., though this is not verified by other sources. 

In any case, the 3,500-person capacity camps were built with the usual speed, being ready for occupancy within seventy-five days after commencement of construction and completed within ninety days of the same.  According to Sturgis, they were the only such centers in the country finished on schedule.

Enemy Internment Camps
The Vicksburg District was a logical location for enemy internment camps.  Far from major population and transportation centers, the area provided an isolated environment from which there was little chance of escape.  The district started construction of three major prisoner of war camps in 1942:  Como, Mississippi; Ruston, Louisiana; and Monticello, Arkansas.  Each was a miniature city, as were the Japanese-American relocation centers.  In fact, numerous structures and specifications were identical.

All prisoner of war camps were similar in design, containing barracks for prisoners and guards, housing for officers and nurses, hospitals, recreation areas, mess halls, fire stations, and cold storage plants.  Each covered approximately 800 acres, cost around $1.8 million, and housed 3,000 prisoners and 500 other personnel.  The Como and Monticello camps were later expanded to hold 6,000.  The district, also by the end of 1942, had acquired real estate and started planning for other camps at Clinton, Mississippi, and at Camp McCain, Mississippi.  By mid-1943, the camps were filled to capacity, primarily with Axis prisoners captured in North Africa.  Germans almost exclusively populated Como and Ruston, while Monticello was entirely Italian. 

Budgetary Growth
The magnitude of the district's role was reflected by its budgetary growth.  Construction expenditures on civil projects by the district in the 1930s averaged about $10 million per year.  In fiscal 1939 this increased to $16.7 million and in 1940 held steady at $16.4 million. 

In fiscal 1941, with the shift to airfield construction early in the calendar year, expenditures on civil projects actually decreased to $14.4 million while the newly created military budget amounted to $6.5 million.  The fiscal 1942 budget, which showed expenditures of $26 million on civil projects, and a whopping $76.9 million on military construction dwarfed these figures.

Despite the enormous increase in expenditures, the number of Corps employees did not grow correspondingly.  In 1939 the district had some 4,300 employees, while in 1942‑‑at the peak of construction activity‑‑this had only increased to 6,100.  Thus, the number of Corps employees district-wide had grown by only forty-one percent while construction had increased over 600 percent during the three-year period.  Total manpower figures for the district reflected that, in mid-1942, some 22,703 people were active on area projects. 

This placed Vicksburg eighth nationally in terms of manpower utilized among forty-seven Corps districts involved in military construction.  Only such giants as Kansas City, New York, and Chicago employed more. 

Achievement Recognized
The success of the Vicksburg District did not go unnoticed.  In December 1941, Undersecretary of the Army Robert Patterson commended Sturgis on his "splendid record" in air field construction, especially noting that the Basic Flying School at Greenville, Mississippi, was nearing completion ahead of schedule at a cost nearly $200,000 less than the original estimate.  Chief of Engineers Reybold also wrote Sturgis in 1942, "Your achievement reflects credit upon the entire Engineer Department."

Sturgis, promoted to Colonel in June 1942, was quick to share praise with his subordinates.  True, the Vicksburg staff had shown an exceptional ability to adjust to difficult circumstances, but the DE noted that the primary reason for the district's record was plain hard work.  Normal peacetime rules, he noted, no longer applied.  Instead, all personnel were expected to stick to their jobs through completion regardless of hardship.  Executive Assistant Kenneth McLaughlin recalled that workdays from 5 a.m. to 11 p.m. were common, as were attendant cases of exhaustion.  In February 1943, long-time Chief of Operations Division Lipscomb actually died at his desk in the Vicksburg office of a stroke possibly induced by fatigue.  Work in the fields also had its trying moments, as when a black workman, sent into the pits once too often, hit his supervisor on the head with a shovel.  Still, the work went on.









































PART V


THE AFTERMATH:


MILITARY CONSTRUCTION COMPLETED

Transfer of Military Projects

In late 1942, the Department of the Army reassigned responsibilities for many of its internal construction activities.  Whereas military construction had so far been the responsibility of Corps of Engineers divisions and districts, regardless of location, the Army now intended to redistribute responsibility to parallel its regular service command organization. Thus Corps districts that were located in the same cities as regular service commands retained their military construction responsibilities, but others were phased out of their construction roles.  As Vicksburg was not a service command headquarters, the Vicksburg District saw its construction activities come to an end.  Effective November 30, 1942, the Army transferred all military projects in the Vicksburg District either to the Mobile or Little Rock district.  

Actually, most military facilities in the district had been completed or were nearing completion, and no new major projects had been assigned.  Exceptions were the enemy internment camp at Clinton, Mississippi, and the general hospital at Jackson, which the Vicksburg engineers were just beginning at the time of the transfer.  These projects, however, paled in importance when compared with the air base, ordnance, and army camp facilities already in use.  The camp and hospital also posed no significant technical or construction difficulties, in contrast to the previous projects.

In the demobilization following the transfer, the Vicksburg District returned to its more traditional functions of flood control and navigation improvement.  These had for the most part continued on a maintenance basis during the rush of the construction period.  Most Army officers and area engineers on military projects, along with records and assets, transferred out of the district's jurisdiction to Mobile or Little Rock, so that residual construction activities continued without interruption.

Vicksburg Engineers Called to Combat
A number of district personnel went on to higher callings.  Sturgis immediately reported to the Southwest Pacific Theater to serve as chief engineer of the Sixth Army under MacArthur. The former district engineer took with him William Harrison, former head of the Airports, Cantonments, and Depots Section of the district's Military Construction Division, and Russell C. Baker, chief of the district's Executive Division, to help form the nucleus of his Pacific staff. 

Raymond Sauer, Sturgis' Executive Assistant for Military Projects, succeeded the latter as district engineer, a post he held until 1946.  George Morris, Chief of the Military Construction Division, Construction Division, served with distinction under General George Patton in the European Theater of Operations.

Under Sturgis, the Sixth Army Engineers served as models of distinction, being in charge of all air base, port, and other Army construction in twenty-two amphibious operations. From 1943-45 they participated in the New Guinea, New Britain and Admiralty campaigns, the invasion of Leyte, the conquest of Luzon, and the occupation of Japan.  Of particular importance among Sturgis' duties was airfield construction, a skill he, Harrison, and Baker had honed in their years at Vicksburg.  Laying airstrips under fire in the Philippines may well have seemed a relief after dealing with the drainage nightmares, recalcitrant base commanders, inspectors general, meddling U. S. Senators, conniving contractors, material shortages, labor disputes, and public relations traumas of Meridian, Greenville, Minden, and Rohwer.

Sturgis: Chief of Engineers
In February 1946, Sturgis returned to the United States to become Air Engineer of the U.S. Air Force.  After a subsequent stint as Division Engineer of the Missouri Valley Division, in 1951, he served as Commanding General of the Sixth Armored Division at Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri.  In 1952, he became commanding general of the Communications Zone, supporting the U.S. Army in Europe.

The culmination of the former Vicksburg DE's career was his appointment, in early 1953, to the position of Chief of Engineers, a post he held for the next four years.  Sturgis remains the only Vicksburg District Engineer to have achieved the highest office within the Corps.

Harrison, Morris, and Baker

Return to the District

After tours of duty in various theaters of operation, many district personnel returned to posts in Vicksburg.  The district then benefited from expertise developed during the construction years in the district, further sharpened by combat experience.  Harrison, Morris, and Baker in particular--all Sturgis disciples and war veterans--returned to positions of prominence.  Each served as chief of one of the district's three technical divisions:  Harrison as Chief, Operations Division; Morris as Chief, Engineering Division; and Baker as Chief, Construction Division.

The District Today:

Remnants of Military Construction

It is difficult today to picture the district as the beehive of activity that it was during the early years of World War II.  Though some few facilities built by the Vicksburg engineers have retained at least part of their vitality, others have all but disappeared.  Even those that are active today tend to have lost sight of their origins.

Barksdale Air Force Base continues to serve as a major post, but its beginnings predate World War II.  The Meridian, Jackson, Greenville, Greenwood, and Monroe Air Corps facilities are now municipal airports, replete with Air National Guard units.  However, relatively few original structures remain and there is little--if any--awareness of their origins and wartime roles among current personnel.  Camp McCain today functions as an important Army National Guard training site, but with only one-tenth of its original area and capacity.  The Grenada Air Support Command Base is no longer active.

Sticking perhaps most closely to its original intent is the Louisiana Ordnance Plant at Minden, which remains a major ammunition plant for the Army.  The Ozark Ordnance Works is now El Dorado Chemical Corporation, also using numerous original buildings and equipment.  Part of the Mississippi Ordnance Plant at Flora, including many "igloo" munitions bins, is used to store records for private businesses.

Little evidence remains of the internment and relocation centers.  The Ruston, Louisiana, prisoner of war camp is now the site of a state mental institution.  Numerous original buildings were used there through the 1960s, and three former barracks are still used as storage facilities.  At Monticello, Arkansas, the internment grounds are now administered by the Forestry Department of the University of Arkansas at Monticello.  Though grown dense with pines, pilings for barracks, a water tower, the hospital smokestack, and a tiny Italian chapel, replete with a marble altarpiece, are discernible.

Rohwer, Arkansas, once the home of 3,500 Japanese-American citizens, now lies at the center of a huge cotton plantation.  Poignantly, on the site of the former camp headquarters a marble monument stands to the Japanese-American soldiers recruited from the camp who served with the U.S. Army in Europe, many killed in Italy and France.  That and a small cemetery are all that remain.

Perhaps less remains of the Como, Mississippi, internment camp than any facility in the district.  Overgrown with brush and transversed by a few rough dirt roads, nothing of its former activity is readily visible. 

 The Vicksburg Victory
Vicksburg was only one of many Corps of Engineers districts involved in military construction in the United States during World War II.  A very small percentage of the men and women who contributed to the Allied triumph passed through its facilities.  Yet its importance was great.  The elevation of its principals‑‑​Sturgis, Harrison, Baker, Morris, and others‑‑to combat construction responsibilities of the highest order in both major theaters of the war accentuated the district's record of success.  Vicksburg personnel served as models for resolving problems of engineering, organization, contracting, material shortages, and political pressure.  Sturgis insisted that no other Corps district surpassed Vicksburg's reputation for finishing jobs on time and within budget.

By war's end in 1945 literally tens of thousands of men and women trained in the Vicksburg District had seen action in theaters of operations or had served in vital military support capacities in the United States.  From Bataan to Bastogne, from Mindanao to Monte Cassino, and from Vicksburg to the Vosges were engineers, infantrymen, artillerymen, flyers, sappers, liaison personnel, communications experts, ordnance specialists, and a multitude of other personnel involved in practically every endeavor the military required.  Their contributions to the Allied triumph over the Axis powers and Japan are incalculable. 

This was the Vicksburg Victory.























ADDENDUM A


MILITARY CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS TRANSFERRED


FROM THE VICKSBURG DISTRICT


TO THE MOBILE OR LITTLE ROCK DISTRICTS


DECEMBER 1, 1942

MOBILE DISTRICT
Como Internment Camp (Como, MS)

Mississippi Ordnance Plant (Flora, MS)

Mississippi Ordnance Training Unit (Flora, MS)

Greenwood Basic Flying School (Greenwood, MS)

Greenville Air Corps Project (Greenville, MS)

Camp McCain (Grenada, MS)

Grenada Troop Carrier Base (Grenada, MS)

Camp McCain Internment Camp (Grenada, MS)

Jackson Air Corps Project (Jackson, MS)

Jackson General Hospital (Jackson, MS)

Meridian Air Corps Project (Meridian, MS)

LITTLE ROCK DISTRICT
Army and Navy General Hospital (Hot Springs, AR)

Barksdale Field (Shreveport, LA)

Dixie Ordnance Works (Sterlington, LA)

Jerome Relocation Center (Jerome, AR)

Louisiana Ordnance Works (Minden, LA)

Monticello Internment Camp (Monticello, AR)

Ozark Ordnance Works (El Dorado, AR)

Pollock Ground Air Support Base (Pollock, LA)

Reception Center and Navigation School (Monroe, LA)

Rohwer Relocation Center (Rohwer, AR)

Ruston Internment Camp (Ruston, LA)

Shreveport Holding and Reconsignment Depot (Shreveport, LA)


 ADDENDUM B


AIR CORPS UNITS TRAINED


AT FACILITIES CONSTRUCTED BY


THE VICKSBURG DISTRICT

According to Combat Squadrons of the Air Force: World War II (Air University, Maxwell Air Base, Montgomery, Alabama: U. S. Air Force Historical Division, 1969), the following Army Air Force Combat Squadrons were stationed and received training during World War II at facilities constructed by the Vicksburg District.  Not included are the basic training units such as those at Greenville and Greenwood whose thousands of trainees were later incorporated into combat or support units.

KEY FIELD, MERIDIAN, MISS.

10th
Fighter

11th
Fighter

12th
Fighter

81st
Fighter

313th
Fighter

506th
Fighter

507th
Fighter

508th
Fighter

512th
Fighter

513th
Fighter

514th
Fighter

518th
Fighter

519th
Fighter

520th
Fighter

522nd
Fighter

523rd
Fighter

524th
Fighter

525th
Fighter

526th
Fighter

527th
Fighter

10th
Tactical Reconnaissance

15th
Tactical Reconnaissance

20th
Tactical Reconnaissance

21st
Tactical Reconnaissance

22nd
Tactical Reconnaissance

30th
Tactical Reconnaissance

31st
Tactical Reconnaissance

113th 
Tactical Reconnaissance

118th
Tactical Reconnaissance

124th
Tactical Reconnaissance

33rd
Photographic Reconnaissance

313th 
Bombardment

314th
Bombardment

315th
Bombardment

319th
Bombardment

320th
Bombardment

321st
Bombardment

376th
Bombardment

377th
Bombardment

378th
Bombardment

379th
Bombardment

380th
Bombardment

381st
Bombardment

398th
Bombardment

400th
Bombardment

426th
Bombardment

428th
Bombardment

465th
Bombardment

623rd
Bombardment

631st
Bombardment

639th
Bombardment

BARKSDALE FIELD,  SHREVEPORT, LA.

6th
Bombardment

15th
Bombardment

34th
Bombardment

37th
Bombardment

50th
Bombardment

51st
Bombardment

53rd
Bombardment

66th
Bombardment

67th
Bombardment

68th
Bombardment

95th
Bombardment

319th
Bombardment

320th
Bombardment

321st
Bombardment

325th
Bombardment

326th
Bombardment

327th
Bombardment

328th
Bombardment

329th
Bombardment

330th
Bombardment

334th
Bombardment

335th
Bombardment

336th
Bombardment

343rd
Bombardment

344th
Bombardment

345th
Bombardment

349th
Bombardment

350th
Bombardment

351st
Bombardment

400th
Bombardment

407th
Bombardment

409th
Bombardment

412th
Bombardment

415th
Bombardment

418th
Bombardment

432nd
Bombardment

437th
Bombardment

438th
Bombardment

439th
Bombardment

440th
Bombardment

445th
Bombardment

446th
Bombardment

447th
Bombardment

448th
Bombardment

474th
Bombardment

475th
Bombardment

476th
Bombardment

477th
Bombardment

86th 
Troop Carrier

HAWKINS FIELD, JACKSON, MISS.

69th
Bombardment

70th
Bombardment

71st
Bombardment

313th
Bombardment

314th
Bombardment

315th
Bombardment

376th
Bombardment

377th
Bombardment

378th
Bombardment

379th
Bombardment

380th
Bombardment

381st
Bombardment

398th
Bombardment

405th
Bombardment

426th
Bombardment

428th
Bombardment

GRENADA AIR SUPPORT COMMAND BASE, GRENADA, MISS.

5th 
Troop Carrier

52nd 
Troop Carrier

60th 
Troop Carrier

307th 
Troop Carrier

308th 
Troop Carrier

POLLOCK AIR SUPPORT COMMAND BASE, POLLOCK, LA.

47th 
Liaison

115th
Liaison

153rd 
Liaison

408th 
Fighter

409th 
Fighter


ADDENDUM C


THE WATERWAYS EXPERIMENT STATION


IN WORLD WAR II

The Waterways Experiment Station

The Vicksburg District was hardly the only War Department agency active in the River City during World War II.  The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station (WES) also played a pivotal, though entirely separate role.

Established in Vicksburg in 1929 primarily as a potamology research center, WES had no administrative ties to the Vicksburg District or the Lower Mississippi Valley Division despite their geographical proximity.  The Office of the Chief of Engineers, in fact, directly administered "the Station," although a great deal of cooperation existed between WES and the Corps' divisions and districts.

WES, like the Vicksburg District, shifted the bulk of its resources from civil to military functions at the outbreak of World War II.  Though WES engineers were ultimately involved in dozens of diverse projects, the facility made particularly important contributions to the war effort in areas of airstrip paving technology and in the construction of precision scale models for military use.

WES began studying general problems of airfield drainage, soil stabilization, and flexible pavement design in January 1941, just as Sturgis was experiencing pertinent engineering problems at Meridian and Greenville.  By 1943, WES had become the leading research and testing facility in the United States for airstrip paving technology.  Soils Division Chief W. J. Turnbull for this purpose employed the services of foundations expert William H. Jervis of the Vicksburg District.  He also lured Bruce Marshall and John F. Redus, Jr., from the Mississippi Highway Department as paving technologists.  Marshall developed a simple method for evaluating the suitability of bituminous concrete mixes for airstrip construction that bears his name to this day and is still the most widely used method in the industry.

In many cases, the military required temporary, expedient surfaces for aircraft in theaters of operations where conventional paving methods were impossible.  To this end, by 1943 WES had developed a pierced steel plank (PSP) landing mat which could be easily and quickly laid and which could handle heavy aircraft.  PSP was mass-produced for Army Air Corps use in both major theaters of the war.

WES also substantially improved prefabricated bituminous surfacing (PBS) by 1944.  Popularly known as "Hessian Mat," the quarter-inch-thick material was placed on more than 100 landing strips in Europe alone between June 1944 and March 1945.  With the use of PSP and PBS, often in combination, the enemy found themselves "hunted like rabbits before eagles by planes rising form fields which appeared by the magic of modern engineering." By war's end practically every U. S. warplane that touched down on a prefabricated landing strip in Europe or the Pacific, many of them piloted by men trained in the Vicksburg District, was landed on materials designed by the Corps in Vicksburg.

In the 1930s WES had pioneered the use of precision scale models to study river and harbor hydraulics.  This experience was put to military use in the 1940s.  Wartime models made by WES engineers included terrain landing sites along the coast of North Africa, Sicily, Italy, the Cherbourg Peninsula, and the Pas de Calais.  Later in the war, WES built models to facilitate Allied plans to cross the Rhine and to prepare for the anticipated invasion of Japan.

Perhaps the most intriguing WES project was the construction of a wave model to resemble the Normandy beaches in preparation for D-Day.  When the Allies selected Normandy in 1943 as the site for the cross-channel invasion of Europe, planners anticipated that local French harbors could not possibly handle the enormous quantity of materiel which would follow.  Consequently, WES engineers assumed the task of developing criteria for an artificial harbor which could be erected on the spot. 

WES crews worked around the clock, seven days a week, under the supervision of Joseph Tiffany, Jr., and Fred Brown (both still Vicksburg residents in 1993) until conclusion of the final tests in December 1943.  Engineers in England took advantage of specifications developed in Vicksburg to build full-size caissons, which tows transported across the English Channel in the days following June 6, 1944.  Though one of the projected "Mulberry" harbors was destroyed by a storm, the other was completed as scheduled--one of the greatest engineering feats of the entire war.  The subsequent ability of the Allies to supply their armies in France, partly due to the Mulberry success, "made possible the liberation of Western Europe," according to a statement from Supreme Allied Headquarters in 1944. 

SOURCES

The starting point for any research on World War II is the official history, United States Army in World War II.   The volume on construction by the Corps of Engineers is The Corps of Engineers: Construction in the United States by Lenore Fine and Jesse A. Remington (Washington, DC, 1972).  This seminal work presents a detailed view of construction policy at the national level while making a number of references to particular projects in the Vicksburg District.  Samuel D. Sturgis, Vicksburg District Engineer from 1940-1942 was a key contributor to the compilation of the manuscript, cited extensively by the authors as a primary source.  Sturgis also wrote lengthy comments to the authors, often describing his Vicksburg experiences, many of which were not included in the final publication.  These are housed in the Records Collections, Office of History, Headquarters, U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, Kingman Building, Alexandria, Virginia.  The Office of History Collections also house Sturgis' voluminous personal papers, a large quantity of which deal with his years in Vicksburg.  Further resources in the Office of History Records Collection encompass monthly progress reports on World War II military construction projects from throughout the nation, many of which include cost analyses and other pertinent data.

Various records concerning military construction by the Corps of Engineers are housed at the National Military Records Center, Suitland, Maryland.  Of particular note is Record Group 77 which contains correspondence between Corps of Engineers division and district engineers and the Office of the Chief of Engineers.  Many of these records are being accessioned into the National Archives.

Detailed correspondence and technical files concerning Army Air Base construction, the "11686 Reports," are now located at the Air Force Historical Research Center, Maxwell Air Force Base, Montgomery, Alabama.  These contain a wealth of information on projects in the Vicksburg District such as Meridian Air Force Base, Greenville Air Force Base, and numerous other facilities.

Within the Vicksburg District few records remain.  Project files and reports compiled by the district, such as daily and weekly progress summaries, were transferred to the Corps Mobile or Little Rock districts in December 1942.  Most were later destroyed.  Remaining, however, are maps which accompanied field progress reports, status sheets with detailed information on all projects in the district at the time of the transfer of construction responsibilities to Mobile and Little Rock, a number of memos and conference notes by district engineers Sturgis and Raymond Sauer, and numerous charts and directives pertaining to the district's organization and policies during the period of construction.  A 1942 pamphlet, The Vicksburg Victory, further provides personal and anecdotal information on the principals involved and on general construction activities in the district.  Few details are provided concerning individual projects, however, as construction activities at the time were classified.

Personal sources are elusive but valuable.  These include Vicksburg retiree Kenneth McLaughlin, former Chief Disbursement Officer and Executive Officer under Sturgis, who provided many personal insights.  The late Grace Sauer, widow of Raymond Sauer, also was most generous in providing personal materials and memories.
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